SHBSB Meeting Feb. 13, 2001 Minutes – Item 4

## Roll Call.

Members Present FT - Fred Turner, Alternate RC - Richard Conrad LW - Loring Wylie PS - Pat Sanchez BB - Bill Batts RH - Roy Harthorn (Revised 9/26/01, added RH per his corrections received by fax) JS - Jeff Samudio DH - Richard Hastings AD - Alan Dryfuss CK - Cheryl Kasai, Alternate DC - Dan Chudy

## Audience Members

LG - Lambert Giessinger (Preservation Architect Consultant, Max Factor Building

- DD Mitzi March Mogul (Historian/Consultant, Max Factor Building)
- DD Donelle Dadigan (Max Factor Building, Owner)
- KG Kerry Grimaldi, Department of Rehabilitation

Appeal for the Max Factor Building, Hollywood History Museum.

DC: We spent considerable time on this at our last meeting. I'll turn it over to Richard to bring us all up to date on what's transpired. I would also like to ask Al to make a brief report on the subcommittee's findings.

RC: Well, Mr. Chair, since our last meeting.

Jeff Samudio: I would like to jump in and state for the record that I'm excusing myself of this as Ellen is my client. I'll step outside, and you guys let me know when you're done.

RC: When you hear the loud round of applause - . Mr. Chair, since our last meeting we did receive a letter from Chief Jimmy Hill, Fire Marshal, the City of Los Angeles. On their position and response to our letter – the board's letter of November first to Chief Hill. They refute or take a position contrary to that that was developed by the subcommittee of the board, regarding the means of egress issues relative to the fire escape, the committee had proposed and that the board had discussed as you had mentioned at the last meeting. With that I think it would be appropriate for Mr. Dryfuss to give a summary.

AD: I was not at the last meeting so I don't know what the board discussed. I did meet with the owner and representatives of the Max Factor building with Joe Garcia and Fred Herman. At that time, the main issues we had to decide and the main issue where we disagreed in our discussion with the fire marshal is whether or not this is a continued use enacted and what does or not does not make the historic building code applicable. It was represented to us with supporting documentation that the building had been used as a museum since 1983. What the fire marshal states is that if that is so it was not with the correct certificate of occupancy, etc., but determined that it had been in use and therefore the SHBC did apply. We then determined that the fire escape in question was visible from the street in front of the building and so modification of the fire escape was undesirable. And from the representation of the owners and the representatives of the owners was also possibility physically impossible. We also determined in addition there was an existing –

another nonconforming exit from that top floor - a spiral staircase from the top floor all the way to bottom floor – nonconforming - but hadn't been mentioned as an additional exit. So there are actually one conforming and two nonconforming exits from that upper floor.

The final issue has to do with the use of that upper floor. The fire marshal's maintaining is that the use that's been described by the appellant is high occupancy assembly use -I think is was restaurant supposedly - or it's going to be fixed – they keep referring to restaurants in their letter. And that made it particularly dangerous situation not having two conforming exits from that floor. The owner and representatives of the building – it became pretty clear to us that the intended use and the likely use was a much lower occupancy.

The determination by the committee was that if an additional exit was created from the first floor at the rear of the building, say in an existing loading dock, that that would allow that circular stair to serve more – as a secondary exit from the rear of the building – and wouldn't require you to pass through the entire first floor to get to the front of building to exit. And that additional exit – let me summarize it. The front exit at the first floor and conforming stairs, the new rear exit at the rear of the building and the nonconforming spiral stairs along with the fire escape would be adequate egress from the building and a safe situation. Obviously, the fire marshal disagrees with us.

DC: Couple of questions if I might. Alan you might know. In looking at the reduced blue prints here, Type 1 building it would indicate, and is it sprinkled - do you know?

AD: I don't remember.

- LG??: It is a Type 1 building.
- LG??: Solid poured in place concrete.
- DC: Okay. Sprinklers, no.

## LG??: Basement

DC: Basement only. Okay. So it appears that per the prevailing code, the '98 California Building Code, it's an A3 Occupancy, and thereby the City's fire marshal is saying it needs two legitimate complying exits. And what we actually have is one legitimate exit and two – what I would call marginal exits. One spiral stair and then another through the exterior emergency fire escape. So, I think a lot of our discussion at the last meeting was such that the Historic Code implies that we use some wide latitude in recognizing alternate methods. And I think we had discussed at our last meeting that we as a board felt that the alternate methods would be the use of the spiral staircase and the fire escape and both of the combined to kind of offset the shortage of that one exit. I just kind of open it up to the other board members to discuss this and see if we can put some more items on the table. Now in reading the state fire marshal's response, I think the crux, I keep saying the state fire marshal, I mean the City of LA's fire marshal. It seems that the crux of their concern, I think is that it was apparently used as a museum or an assembly area without benefit of permit and review from me as a building department or fire department from '83 to '92.

??: Can you point out where that is?

DC: I'm reading – it's in the letter from Jimmy Hill, the fire marshal.

DDNE – D. Denne': Can I ask a question for clarification - this is all new to me. Is the building equipped with any type of smoke detection system currently?

DD: No.

DDNE: And is the 4<sup>th</sup> floor going to be used for drinking or dining, alcohol consumption?

DD: Occasionally, but not on a regular basis. Possibility. It is really just a display space, part museum for exhibits. There may be a special activity with the opening of a special exhibit.

DDNE: Because the California Building Code does call for sprinklers to be installed if it's over 5000 square feet. I don't know how large this area is – if it's going to be used for consumption of alcohol.

LG: The net area on that is about 4200.

DC: Per floor?

LG: Right.

DC: So when we're talking about alcohol – we're talking about an art opening type activity.

DDNE: And funding raising activity for the museum.

DD: Unfortunately the building code doesn't clarify.

(RH)??: I have a question about the neighboring buildings. Are a few of them sprinklered.

DD: Two north of the building and the neighbor to - adjacent street to the right – there is a 15-foot easement walkway alley way between this building and our building. And the building to the left of this building I own also. And that is where the restaurant will be. Not on the 4<sup>th</sup> floor. But in a separate building and that will be fully sprinklered. Behind the building is an alley. But there is some confusion from Chief Hill as to where the restaurant is located.

DDNE: So the restaurant is not included in this particular building at all.

DD: That is correct. The restaurant is located – if you look at this first photo that you have. This 4- story building is where the museum was since 1983 - and remained open until 1996 when I purchased the building. The 1-story building that's going out to the right of 4-story building - it's a 1-story building – that is where the restaurant will be – it's next door.

DC: And it's going to be sprinklered?

DD: Yes.

DC: Okay.

(RH)??: It's not a part of this project?

LG: No, but it does actually adjourn – in respect to shares openings – there's a fire door between the two.

DD: There are two fire doors. Solid poured in place concrete walls dividing the buildings.

DDNE: Do you know what the rating of the doors are?

DD: They're two hours - each. And they're double fire doors.

(RH)??: Has that building been permitted or is it functioning with a C of O?

DD: The other building, no. None of it was permitted. None of it had the C of O because it was all built and occupied when owned by Max Factor Cosmetics Co prior to the 1940's when C of O's entered into the picture.

(RH)??: Is the one-story building functioning?

DD: No, not yet.

DC: And that's not part of this appeal anyway. This appeal is expressly focused on the third and fourth floor. So we want to focus our discussion on the third and fourth floor and the use of the two non traditional exits in lieu of the one additional required exit.

??: I think we need to make a determination on the two issues. One, does the SHBC apply and it hinges on the continued use.

DC: I think in reading the City's FM correspondence they agree that the SHBC does apply to this building. And the state FM (.....) no the City's FM in this correspondence has listed 5 sections out of the codes that they're focusing on to support their position. One of those five is out of the NFPA life safety code which I would discount that all together, because it does not apply in this case. That takes us now to four items. I'm going to go through them quickly my own opinion. The first item he lists is 8-302.2. a Change of Occupancy provision in the SHBC. I'm going to paraphrase that it says something to the effect that when you change of occupancy you can't create an unreasonable hazard. It does not say that you have to make the building comply with the regular code but it says you cant' create an unreasonable hazard. Again, I'm paraphrasing - so. Then the second one the FM cites is out of 8-502.1 which is a Means of Egress, and he's specifically citing exceptions 3 and 5. Which I throw those out too. I would say look at exception number 2. Because exception number 2 says that basically what we're doing is expressly allowed in the SHBC as far as recognizing exiting fire escapes as one of the required exits. That's all we're doing – we're saying here's where it says it in the code. By a FM looking at exception 3 and 5 it makes a question, well, did you look at number 2? It fits this like a glove. The third item listed is 8-207 at which I think is just a definition of fire hazard. And it basically says that the FM is the authority having jurisdiction for purposes of defining what a fire hazard is. And then the last one is 8-401.2, I don't remember off the top what that was...is just the intent of the fire protection chapter. It says that - talks about maintaining a reasonable degree of fire safety. Of course, that's subjective and may be our opinion of what's reasonable is obviously is different than the City's FM.

The main sticking point for me is the fact that it wasn't permitted in '82. But even discounting that, if the applicant were to come forward today and say I want to convert this space in this historic building to a museum -forget the fact that it was a museum before, I think the sections that this board has recognized would still apply. We really get to that \$20,000 question – probably more like \$2 million question, is what's reasonable? What is a reasonable degree of safety? I can't fault the FM because they have a different expectation – they're trained a little bit differently. But this board has a broad knowledge of the bigger picture -- I think. And that is how can we utilize historic buildings in different ways so that they are viable, economic engines for the community, and yet maintain the historic fabric. So looking for addition impute, maybe from other members – if you want to chime in for the record and we can vote.

DH: I agree with what you've just stated. My question is the way it comes back to us is – just what is the FM looking for from us, in that we've already given him. We can reaffirm our previous decision in saying no, you're wrong FM, this is really the interpretation. And hope that will then fly – we certainly don't want it to bounce back again. Is there something more definitey-wise

RC: Dick, the first thing we sent was the findings of committee of the board – nor was it a formal action of the board.

DH: So by ratifying that is a formal action of the board might suffice.

DC: I think the last meeting we did that. This is a formal appeal now. It's all been consultation up to this point, now it's a formal appeal.

RC: When the appellants came to the board in December there had not been a final determination from the Los Angeles City Fire Marshal. There had been some discussions and whatever but not a decision in writing. That was rendered after the letter from the committee of the board went to the City. And that generated the response – basically refuting the position that was raised in out letter to the FM, so there was nothing to appeal until the LA fire marshal gave their position on the matter, which was contained in the letter. Once that was given, there was then something to appeal to the board, so a formal decision could be made at that point.

PS: Have any discussions been made as far as putting in an early warning system such as smoke detectors?

DC: No, that hasn't been part of the discussion up to now. Maybe the applicant would want to respond to that.

DH: Maybe that is why in which I had a question on the FM's letter of just the use of a word – in the second paragraph, he says, "the purpose of the complication was an attempt to informally solve...," and I was wondering about that use of the word "informally solve".

RC: It was a consultation, and an opinion was rendered. A decision was not made, an opinion was rendered on the application ....Not a formal because the board itself did not take an action.

DH: I would like to understand a little more of Fire Marshal Hill's logic. He doesn't necessarily ignore exceptions as he addresses them down in the third to the last paragraph.

I need some help on this in getting into his line of thinking. Perhaps you could tell me what his logic was. But he's basically saying that due to the change in occupancy exception 2 cannot be enforced. What is your take on that?

DC: I think he's putting more emphasis on the change in occupancy 8-302, which says, cut to the chase - very end of that says, "provided the new use or occupancy does not create a fire hazard or other condition detrimental to the safety of occupants or fire fighting personnel. I think he is focusing on that last sentence.

DH: And why would this new occupancy create a such a distinct hazard?

DC: The potential consumption of alcoholic beverages, and the A3 designation – 299 potential occupants on each floor.

AD: Because even though he acknowledges that it has been used, or says – sort of acknowledges that it has been used as a museum, he keeps going back to its original construction and use. The idea of some kind of additional smoke detection or early warning system occurred to us but it didn't appear to be necessary. It might be a way to somewhat alter what we're recommending and try to accommodate the FM. The other issue that strikes me is in the description of the use – the actual use of that floor – is something that we run into occasionally where what the code prescribes in the square footage and interpreting it – as occupancy for that square footage, given that type of occupancy, and what the actual use might be may differ significantly. Our opinion after having talked to the owner and representatives is that there was a decided difference in the – what the actual occupancy would be. I'm not sure if there is way to restrict that occupancy that would be agreeable to the owners that might soften the blow to the FM.

DC: Loring, you had your hand up earlier?

LW: I was looking at the fire escape. I've climb more of these than I ever care in looking at the outside of a building. It looks like from the fourth down to the third to the second are like what I'd call ship's ladders, which are easily negotiable. Then this last picture in the package of picture, it appears that from the second floor down there is a vertical ladder that I would guess you step on and your weight then sends the ladder down – is that the way it works?

DD: Actually you unlatch it – it's on a pulley system that is fully functional. It just goes down.

LW: Okay, it goes down and you don't have to hook it. I guess looking at that, going down - having people who are not accustomed to ladders going down a vertical ladder may not be easy. I'm looking at our code 502.2, which is fire escapes, but it talks like these are new fire escapes and fire escape ladders and it does talk about ....provide.....stairs that reach the ground. This is the new ones. And the existing ones which says that they shall extend to the ground and are easily negotiated. The only thing I can see about this fire escape is that bottom ladder where the climb is easily negotiable. It would be for some people and probably not for others. I've seen the ones with the pulley on the stairs rotate down and those are a lot more easily negotiated. That would be my only reservation about that fire escape.

FT: What you were just mentioning. We did discuss not what easily negotiated but extending to the ground and clarified that our intent was that it did not have to be fixed at the ground to extend but to be able to be extended to the ground by a mechanical.

LW: I think that's right. If you have it down to the ground then you're going to have people going up it. I remember going to inspect a building once and the kids had gotten up so much they just had taken it off. So you started from the second floor and you went down 3 steps so there was a rail, a little chain across between the handrails and there was nothing else.

DC: We've got a lot of fire escapes in Riverside – it's an old town. Quite often we have to have the ladder extensions at the base because of space constraints and also security to keep the kids from going up. So sometimes that is the only way to maintain it is to have it out of reach.

LW: With the spiral staircase inside I feel a little better because at least there is another route.

DC: Certainly the FM's position is well taken as is Loring's. In that is in an emergency situation the exiting time is going to be greatly increased with people trying to negotiate this stairway. But again with the third exit, even though it's not a legitimate exit under the '98 CBC, it is nonetheless a way to egress from that floor to the spiral stairway which would probably provide you a quicker means of egress through the spiral stairway then this would.

??: Unless the fire department gets there and throws a ladder up to that lower level.

PS: There again that's where your early warning would come in – offer some help before anything extreme happened.

(RH)??: It's a question to the owner and your representatives. Have you looked at the implications of a smoke detection system to provide an early warning in case of fire or smoke? Have you looked at those costs?

DD: Yes, I have. There economically – any budget I have. I have to look back at the issue that the LA fire department first reviewed my project in September of '97 before I did any rehabilitation to the Max Factor Building. They came to the agreement that this was a historic building, they knew that the building was a museum. I have documentation here when I have a chance to get up and address you regarding the issues that I would like to bring to the table this mornings. I would go over all that with you. As a result I have spent until April of 2000 meticulously restoring this building to look like it looked in 1935 when it first opened – with the art deco style.

LG: There is an additional – I don't know if the board discussed this at the last meeting but there is the additional wrinkle that the permit for the project was issued after plan check. It was only, if I remember right, when you went to get your certificate of occupancy that they decided they had missed it -

AD: It was one of the things that compelled us to appeal like we needed to give relief when we reviewed this in committee.

Minutes – February 13, 2001 SHBSB Meeting

LG: Apparently it went through plan check with no problem and the fire marshal checked off on it at that time with no problem.

??: Well at this point the building department is ready to sign off on the project. They're just waiting for this body to make a decision that they can stand behind.

DC: Can you tell me when it was the fire marshal first change their mind.

DD: Final sign off on the building was April 2000, the fire marshal entered into it at the end of May 2000.

(RH)??: Another question. Occupant load of the third or fourth floor – what do you anticipate as your maximum occupant load during the drinking, openings, where you're serving alcoholic beverage – most people you anticipate.

DD: Maximum would be 299.

(RH)??: That's right at the threshold between A2.1 and A3.

(RH)??: Does the building have a security system?

DD: Yes, it does.

(RH)??: Do you realize that that's the bulk of the cost of the fire detection system is the monitoring and the wiring?

DD: Bulk of the cost – I appreciate what you're saying, but the bulk of the cost now besides purchasing the additional equipment will be more down time. I have been waiting for the fire department to be able to respond – and they responded in January of this year. We have been waiting since May of last year for a response from them. So we have this down time. And now all the tearing out of the walls in the building – they cannot be in the ceilings because the ceilings are solid poured in place concrete with fire retardant material sprayed on them. So everything has to be hidden behind partitions and built out again, plus I have to touch historic elements in the building to get that detection system in. This should have been addressed in September of 1997. It was ---the building was approved as is in September of '97 because of the bulk of documentation provided that this was and has been a museum and that my purchase of the building was a direct response to the City of Los Angeles RFP to find a purchaser of this building that would accomplish two things: One, bring back an economic life back into this building by using the building as a museum as continued usage, and two, restore the building back to its historic designated style that everybody would appreciate in the art deco style. I accomplished that. I purchased this building based on the RFP. I felt I was doing wonderful things for the community by giving back to the community – having the building reopen again with a museum in it. They have enjoyed a museum in there for many years and restoring the building back to the way it should have looked. So to answer you, no, it is not economically feasible at this time.

DC: I just asked our state fire marshal representative I've used early detection as a mitigating factor and a number of change of uses in lieu of fire sprinkling which is the preferred method. As far as historic buildings are concerned wireless detectors are now available – you don't need to really go into the building to pull any wires. So it's something you might give consideration to. I fully appreciate the fact that you have come a great

distance with good faith and due diligence based on a great deal of approval and paper trial perhaps by various agencies. However, I can see where we are relying upon two marginal exits. One of which is actually crossing an assumed property line between two –

DD: There is no property line –

DC: An assumed property line between two types of construction, where you have type one on one side and as you step out the window you are over an above a differing type of construction – according to your documents.

??: Can you give me some idea of cost on the wireless – I'm not familiar with the wireless detection system, cost, and time for installation?

PS: Be a quess - we'd have to look at the square footage and where to place the -

(RH)??: I was quoted \$100 per unit – for the detection equipment.

??: Do you have idea, Bill, what the spacing on those units would be?

BB: I don't know.

PS: As far as down time –

DC: Is it a self-contained unit – you just install it and it has its own battery and alarm system?

(RH)??: Correct. It's a high tech residential smoke detector.

DC: Right, there's a receiver and monitoring system.

DD: I appreciate all of this. My concern is that one, I don't' have a residential building, and two, the building is under the minimum height requirement for installation of fire sprinklers.

??: We aren't talking -

DD: You're saying in lieu of fire sprinklers -

DC: What you don't understand is the board often recommends fire sprinklers in situations where they're not required in mitigating factor for other problems – so that's why that's coming up as an issue. They solve a lot of problems even in buildings where they're not required. In this one, we're just acknowledging that that would be a hardship and very difficult, where it's possible that this simple installation of the wireless – a number of wireless detectors could be affordable, easily accomplished in a short period of time. And at least give us something to go back to the fire marshal ...say...we have knowledge - the agreement to do additional exit at the rear but also early detection system and then just stand firm on the use of the fire escape and spiral stair.

DD: May I ask do you know how many square feet that wireless covers?

PS: You'd have to talk to a manufacturer – they're all a little bit different.

DC: What I'm a little concerned about is not giving the owners of the building an additional requirement to meet that will take more time. That seems to be what the biggest issue right now. I'm almost inclined to ask the owners to look into that and to report back to us and not include that as part of our recommendation to the fire marshal.

??: Not have it as a condition.

(RH)??: But if they're easily installed, so that there is no time factor then it wouldn't be a problem.

DC: Like Roy, I'm a building official and I often have required the smoke detection as a mitigating factor. But I've never heard of the wireless, and I'm not too sure I would have too much trust in systems that you got to maintain batteries.

(RH)??: Unless they're maintained by the fire alarm company – it's a service contract.

DC: Let me throw something else out. In similar buildings... It seems as though the fire marshal's one of the primary concerns is that high occupant load during those special events which probably will be rather infrequently, I assume. The primary use of the museum where you're going to have maybe 20 people per floor most of the time if that. Have you considered or has there been any discussion about when you have these special events hiring what we refer to as a "fire watch" person to be in that building, during that event, monitoring all the floors, and if there is to be some fire emergency, then that start an early evacuation system that way. Have you given any thought to that?

DD: Yes, we have. We actually offered that in one of our numerous negotiation meetings with LAFPD and they refused that.

DC: Most fire departments will because that puts a burden on the owner and that makes them become the enforcer - the policeman to make sure it's done. But I would like it - if we move forward, I would like to see that incorporated into our requirement that pass the burden along to the owner that when they do have these events that they will have – will employ a "fire watch" type of a person to monitor that building during that event. I think that would go a long way if in fact the hard wire or remote wired systems are not feasible.

(RH)??: Dan, perhaps a condition where this type of security fire watch was required up until such a point that they made a transition to smoke detection system that they find suitable.

DC: The economics may balance out hiring a person for X number of hours every time versus the hard costs of installing a system. What do you think about that – is that a -

DD: I would not have a problem. In fact, we offered it before that we would hire a person to monitor for security/fire watch purposes. I can certainly look into the – about the early warning fire/smoke detector situation. I don't know what the cost will be, and I don't know if it will be acceptable because it will not be hard wired.

RC: It only has to be acceptable to us.

DD: I will look into it

RC: If it's a system that meets the standard for those system then that's the only test you have to pass.

DD: How would I go and demolish the historic integrity of this building to hard wire again.

Everyone: We don't want you to do this..

RC: Probably one of the reasons the remote systems were developed.

(RH)??: They don't like installers getting up there on scaffolds and running conduit – it's almost an OSHA thing for the installers – they developed it for their own use.

??: I have the impression that the fire marshal down there assumes that only the top floor is going to be utilized for openings where you'd be selling some type of alcohol. Having been a visitor to a lot of openings, you have people going all the way from the first floor to the top floor and back and forth. If the bar is located at the first or second floor the majority will certainly be there rather than up at the top floor. Doesn't seem to me that you'd have that heavy concentration with the other floors all being empty. Can you explain that action taking place?

DD: I think that would be very rare in doing museum work. It's not a gallery, it's a museum. We tend to be certified with the American Association of Museums. You really wouldn't want people bumping around with food or any type of drink, alcohol or otherwise. So there may be the rare occasion with people might be permitted to wander through with a glass of wine, but by and large our intention has always been to confine those events to the upper floor where all food and all drink and all people would be confined. The event might be, come at 6 o'clock to see the new exhibit, and from 6 to 8 they can wander through floors 1, 2, & 3, and then at 8 o'clock the event is now self contained only on the 4<sup>th</sup> floor with food, drink, people, music. And the assemblies will not always involve food and alcoholic drink. It may be a seminar of some kind, a meeting, lecture, and some other kind of educational events.

DD: Most of the time this space will be used for exhibit and display. I believe that somewhere along the line people got confused as to what exactly museum activities are. The confusion that there was going to be a restaurant on the 4<sup>th</sup> floor, which is not the case, helped cause all these little glitches in the overall picture.

RC: I would like to interject one thing – there was a museum in ? park that wanted to expand and have a large occupant load on the second floor with only one exit. And the solution there was – it was found to be acceptable to the fire authority - was to have one or two individuals actually I believe they were from the fire department, when the events took place that had the large occupant load to actually be stationed there to provide assistance and guidance should anything go awry. That's not an uncommon strategy.

DC: We've done that in Riverside with the exception that we don't necessarily require an employee of the fire department just a security company.

AD: I would to make a motion that the board reaffirm the decision that was made by the subcommittee with the addition of the language on the end response to the section by section citations in the Fire Marshal's letter, and with the additional condition that the

owner's during the large assemblies will provide a fire watch or an early detection system. We could specify that a battery operated wireless system is acceptable to us.

DC: And further that I would define a big event as an event with over one hundred participants.

DD: Could I ask a fire watch - would that be with what type of personnel – would we be able to hire someone from a private company or from the fire department.... What type of choice.

DC: You could hire one from a private company. Many of the security companies offer such services. Would not necessarily have to be an employee of the fire department. Any further comments?

Okay Alan has a motion.

(RH)??: I'll second.

DC: There's a second. Discussion?

??: One quick question, on the drawings here it indicates there's a large historic elevator in the rear corner. Is that functional? Does it have automatic controls? Or does it need somebody working the little crank?

DD: It's automatic.

DC: Any further discussion on the motion? And do we have that on tape so that we can

RC: If we don't, I'll be on the phone...but I'm sure we do.

DC: Okay. I'm not going to repeat the motion – everyone remembers it I'm sure. All those in favor say EYE –

All: EYE

DC: Any opposed. Unanimous.

RC: Could I just request a clarification not on the motion but based on the previous letter to the FM. The spiral stair is recognized as a -one of the three exit means for the building. I don't remember without reading the letter if we specified that it would be identified as an exit so people would realize that.

AD: We do mention that.

RC: And signed as such....

AD: Yes. And I don't know whether the fire department has any requirements about ---they did not inform me that it be posted as such – as an emergency exit.

DH: Is the spiral staircase - typically people use that, is that right?

Minutes – February 13, 2001 SHBSB Meeting

DD: Oh, yes. It's very secure, very solid.

DC: Any other comments before we move on?

DD: I have some questions about enforcement. Can we comfortably - reasonably move forward and put in our door, our signs, go through all this with the reasonable expectation that we will be issued C of O or are we potentially looking at another refusal from Chief Hill and another hearing somewhere down the line.

DC: My opinion and mine as the building official is you need the fire department to compitulate to our rulings. Don't try to side step the. If they don't compitualte than I'm sure that we going to have to have further discussions. Because it's my opinion that we are the jurisdiction – the authority having jurisdiction over this item, and just dispense with the appeal. And that's the end of it. But the fire department still has the authority of issuing C of O's.

RC: Nor does the building department.

DC: Well both of them work in harmony on that issue.

RC: Well the building department may accept – well they've already issued their C of O's.

DC: I think it's wise for us to have the fire department compitulate to our ruling. I think that would be wise. If they don't, we'll have to set up a meeting with the FM and

RC: Well, once we've taken a formal action...once we've made this determination, we really can't do anything else.

DC: Civil matter...

RC: We can try to (influence) them....

DC: Going to court would be next step...

RC: And I don't think they want to do that so. I do believe though with the fire watch and the potential for the smoke detection we'll probably soften their position.

DD: I appreciate your help because it's been a long journey and it has not been easy keeping this 40,000 sq. building open all these months without the ability to open it to the public. I'm just hoping our journey will see the light at the end of the tunnel and hopefully I can make sure the switch stays on.

DC: Thank you for all of your good work.